THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

OCT 24 2023

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable Diane Goodstein, First Judicial Circuit
Honorable Maite Murphy, First Judicial Circuit

Appellate Case No. 2023-000879

Molly M. Morphew

Appellant

v.

Stephen Dudek and Doreen Cross

Respondents

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Molly M. Morphew, pro se
285 Wooden Horse Run
Ridgeland, SC 29936
(843) 514-7299

ARGUMENTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

1. The lower court improperly granted summary judgment while discovery ordered by the lower court was still pending.

Appellant, Molly Morphew, (herein “Appellant”) contends the lower court not only improperly granted summary judgment while ordered discovery was pending, but also improperly denied, 1) Appellant’s evidence request at the hearing, 2) Appellant’s motion to compel discovery and 3) Appellant’s motion for Rule to Show Cause why Respondents have failed to serve Appellant the court ordered discovery. To deny the court ordered discovery commits discovery violations, violates due process and the rules of the court. As demonstrated below, summary judgment must be reversed, Appellant’s motion to compel and motion for rule to show cause granted, and due Respondents’ intentional contempt of a court order, sanctions as requested in Appellant’s motion for rule to show cause or as this court deems fit.

On May 9, 2020, Appellant served its separate discovery requests for Admissions, Interrogatories and Requests for Production on both Respondents, Doreen Cross and Stephen Dudek (herein “Respondents”). Respondents’ responses were due on or before June 8, 2020. (Plntf. Req. for Discovery)

On June 5, 2020, the Respondents filed a motion for protection against the discovery. That motion contained no answers, responses or objections to each request. (Motion for Protection).

On or about July 23, 2020, IAW Rule 36 SCRCF and after Appellant had not been served any response to its requests for admissions, Appellant served a motion to deem admissions admitted. In its motion, Appellant argued among other things, that all admissions are relevant to the subject matter of the action and the truth of any matters within the scope of SCRCF Rule 26(b) set forth in the request that relate to statements or opinions of fact or of the application of law to fact, including the genuineness of any documents described in the request; and that Respondents have not served a timely

response. Appellant is entitled to an order admitting the truth of the matters specified in Appellant's requests pursuant to SCRCF 36(a), and Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 36(a) (Mtn Admissions Admitted). As argued below and repeated here, nowhere does Rule 36 indicate a general motion for protection from discovery automatically overrules the timely response of admissions. Respondents did not defend or respond to Appellant's motion. Consequently, Respondents fail to demonstrate good faith or good cause in their failure to respond to the requests for admissions as required by Rule 36. Appellant has not been served responses to the admissions.

A year later, on May 26, 2021, a motion hearing took place on several motions, including Appellant's motion to deem admissions admitted. Due to time constraint, the Respondents' motion for protection from discovery and Appellant's motion to deem admissions admitted did not allow for oral argument but was to be reviewed after the hearing by the judge, Judge Murphy. Judge Murphy did order from the bench, and in accordance with the discovery rules, the Respondents to provide Appellant responses to her discovery, and to give specific reasons why objecting to¹, and allowed 1 week for compliance, due June 2, 2021(Transcript). The Respondents failed to serve the responses to each discovery request as ordered by the court. Respondents failed to respond or answer the discovery requests they did not object to or were not seeking protection from. The Respondents are in contempt.

On June 9, 2021, after receiving no discovery or response from Respondents, Appellant served its motion to compel discovery and response to Respondents' additional memorandum in support of protective order for discovery (Motion to compel/response). In its motion, she demonstrates the memo was untimely or filed *after* the hearing (Additional Memo Protection), therefore any additional evidence or arguments to support their motion for protective order was not before the court for its consideration. contending their motion contained no answers, responses or objections to each request, nor did they produce documents; and that their reasons for protection falls outside

¹ SCRCF Rule 33, Rule 34 and Rule 36

'protection' as outlined in Rule 26(c) SCRCPP (where justice only requires to protect a party or person from annoyance, embarrassment, oppression or undue burden by expense). All discovery is relevant to the subject matter of the action and the truth of any matters within the scope of Rule 26(b) set forth in the request that relate to statements or opinions of fact or of the application of law to fact, including the genuineness of any documents described in the request; and that Respondents have not served a timely response. Further, they should not be given leave to decide what's relevant to the case and what is not or be protected from discovery alleged provided in a separate prior case. The discovery rules provide a broad allowance of discovery and do not indicate, or mandate discovery produced in another case cannot be produced in a separate subsequent case, notwithstanding the fact the Respondents cannot or failed to point to any case or discovery request in which they provided the same discovery. Additionally, Respondents generally state "the plaintiff attempts to relitigate issues already litigated" but fail to point to even one issue or allegation already specifically litigated that falls outside the scope of the complaint or does not address issues of material fact as alleged in the Amended Complaint. They also fail to point to any evidence or case precedent which supports their allegations that any of the discovery requests require justice to protect. Rule 26(c) SCRCPP. Since the discovery was previously provided but not to Appellant, it's already in discoverable format and at the Respondents' fingertips and does not meet the criteria for 'protection'². The discovery rules provide a broad allowance of discovery and do not indicate, or mandate discovery produced in another case cannot be produced in a separate subsequent case. Based on the above, the court record, and the fact Respondents did not answer, respond to or defend Appellant's motion and response, and the court record, the protective order filed later on August 23, 2021, was improper and an abuse of the discovery rules and the court's discretion. (59e motion to compel).

² Upon motion by a party or by the person from whom discovery is sought, and for good cause shown, the court ... may make any order which justice requires to protect a party or person from annoyance, embarrassment, oppression, or undue burden by expense... Rule 26(c) (emphasis added)

On August 23, 2021, Judge Murphy issued an order protecting [some] discovery supporting its ruling generally stating, “*I agree with the Respondents*”. The order failed to point to any arguments, cases, rules or statutes to support its denial of discovery. She also commanded the Respondents to provide [some] discovery or all other items [the discovery requests not highlighted or circled in the Respondents’ memorandum to support their protective order] within 30 days of its order or September 22, 2021. (Order,pg.5) (Additional Memo Protection, Ex. 1, non-circled/non-highlighted items).

“Attached to the Defendants’ Additional Memorandum was an exhibit which contained all the Plaintiff’s requests. The requests to which the Defendants objected were highlighted/circled, and the Defendants’ reasons for objecting to the requests were stated in their Motion and Additional Memorandum. This Court agrees with the Defendants. The Defendants shall not be required to respond to the highlighted/circled requests. The Defendants shall respond to all remaining requests within 30 days of issuance of this Order.” (Order, pg. 5) (emphasis added)

Further, Appellant’s motion to compel discovery and response to Respondents memo to support their protective order motion was pending at the time of the hearing, but due the apparent lack of time, and rushed atmosphere, plus the fact the judge said she will be reviewing the entire record “*I’m certainly going to look at the entire record to see what was filed...*” (Transcript 5-21 l.25-pg. 23 l. 2) “*I’m going to take the time to review -- this is, obviously, a voluminous court record. I’m not going to make a decision right here without reading it to ensure that you’re protected and the other side is protected. So that’s why I’m asking you if we’ve got everything in here, so procedurally, I can look at it to see when motions were filed, when other things were filed, to ensure that all the timeliness of those motions are followed. and what objections were filed to ensure that’s taken care of appropriately.*” (Trans. 5-21), Appellant had been confident her motion was going to be considered.

It should be noted by this court that Judge Murphy failed to consider Appellant’s motion to compel and response to Respondents’ Additional Memo in its order or rulings on August 23, 2021,

and this issue was raised in Appellant's 59e motion (59 motion 8-21, pg. 15-19). To further support that Appellant's motion and response was not considered in its ruling, it was not dispositioned either in the order or on the record after the hearing, but was [again] improperly scheduled *over a year later* to be heard at the November 22, 2022 hearing by a different judge, Judge Goodstein, even though it was required to be considered in 2021 by Judge Murphy. Judge Goodstein later in its order dated Dec. 30, 2022, in error and against another judge's ruling, denied Appellant's motion to compel discovery and motion for rule to show cause [why the discovery ordered by Judge Murphy has not been complied with].

"When a circuit court issues an order, that issue is done. I cannot nor will I go behind what another circuit court judge has done in deciding an issue." Judge Goodstein (Transcript)

Judge Goodstein's granting of summary judgment and denial of court ordered discovery violates discovery rules, rules for summary judgment, and a prior court order by another judge, Judge Murphy, Order dated Aug. 23, 2021³(Order 8-21) (59e motion 1-23).

Appellant contends that due to Respondents' intentional contempt of a court order and major delay in the proceedings, sanctions are due. Along with pending discovery and the errors and oversites by Judge Murphy and then by Judge Goodstein, Appellant's motion to compel and motion for rule to show cause should be reversed and granted, along with Respondents' motion for protection from discovery reversed and denied. It's been over 3 years and the discovery is still pending.

This court should also take notice the Respondents came to court asking for a protective order from [some] discovery requests, and over a year later it was granted on [some] discovery and the remaining discovery was ordered to be responded to and provided to Appellant. Now, the Respondents, with full knowledge of non-compliance, refuse to comply with the court order and are in obvious contempt. It is clear the Respondents have neither integrity nor consideration for the

³ At the hearing in November 2022, Judge Goodstein even stated she is unable to overrule Judge Murphy's discovery order/rulings.

processes of the court or discovery rules. Again, their outright contempt or refusal to provide the ordered discovery, discovery that addresses the very issues in granting of summary judgment, warrants this court to reverse the granting of protection from discovery, reverse the denial of Appellant's motion to compel and motion for rule to show cause, and grant sanctions and remand back to the lower court for further proceedings.

On August 28, 2021, Appellant served its 59e motion (Motion). Respondents did not defend or respond to Appellant's motion. As argued herein and repeated here, Appellant's motion included, but not limited to, to provide all discovery requested because the discovery rules allow for any discovery related to the issues in the instant complaint and just because it may relate to another case does not make it non-discoverable in this case, nor was any of the discovery undue burden or cost. In addition, this Court indicates in its Aug. 23, 2021, order that the Respondents' motion filed for protection from discovery has the automatic effect of preventing requests from being deemed admitted and cites *Baughman v. American Tel. and Tel. Co.* in support of its ruling (Order). *Baughman* specifically finds a protective order is not automatic in preventing requests for admissions to be admitted. "A motion for a protective order is not conclusive in preventing requests for admissions to be admitted. *Baughman v. American Tel. and Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101,109,410 S.E.2d 537,542 (1991). As cited in *Baughman*, the South Carolina Supreme Court found a motion for a protective order *may* be an appropriate response, but only when made in good faith would it operate to prevent matters from being deemed admitted. *Supra, Baughman. Baughman* is not even remotely the same as this instant case, where unlike in *Baughman*, in this instant case the admissions are minimal, the questions easily answered, and there were no requests to provide certain information in the event the request was denied. In *Baughman*, there was 1000's of admissions, many of them required Plaintiffs to provide certain information in the event the request was denied, thus "not in proper form" because their effect was "nothing more than interrogatories¹⁰(guised as requests for

admission) seeking to ascertain knowledge of facts." *Supra, Baughman*. Respondents failed to provide any responses to the admissions in its motion for protection from discovery and failed to respond to Appellant's motion to deem admissions admitted, therefore Respondents failed to demonstrate good faith.

If all it takes for a litigant to avoid requests for admission was to submit a general motion for protection from discovery that failed to respond to each or submit reasoning for objecting specifically why it should be protected, then every litigant could easily and without effort avoid requests for admissions or delay answering for years, such as in this case.

It's been years and Appellant still hasn't been served responses to any its discovery requests, even the discovery ordered by the court and due September 22, 2021⁴. Such shows a critical failing of good faith, an intentional delay of the proceedings, and contempt of a court order (59e motion 1-23)(59e motion 8-21)(Mtn Compel/Response)(Mtn Rule to Show Cause)

On February 15, 2022, after giving the Respondents more than ample time to comply with the court order, Appellant served and filed a motion for rule to show cause why the Respondents have failed to provide the ordered discovery to Appellant. The Respondents did not answer or respond to the motion rule to show cause either in filings or at the November 22, 2022, hearing. Later, the court denied the motion even though all ordered discovery is still pending. It's abuse of discretion or process to deny a show cause motion why Respondents failed to comply with the court order, particularly when they failed to show good cause or respond to or defend Appellant's motion (Mtn Rule Show Cause) (59e motion, 1-23). Due the above, Appellant's motion for rule to show cause must be reversed and granted, along with sanctions as required under the circumstances, IAW the motion.

On March 30, 2022, the Respondents filed a 1-page, blank motion for Summary Judgment which contains no arguments. Respondents' motion was not served on Appellant, required and for a

⁴ Respondents failed to file the responses and documentation with the court in response to the order.

pro se party where traditional service by mail is mandatory and email is not an accepted method of service, nor does it contain a certificate of service upon Appellant as required by Rule 5 SCRCPP; Rule 5 FRCP⁵. The motion was obtained by the Appellant from the lower court after receiving the order dated December 30, 2022 (Motion). No memorandums or affidavits were served on Appellant. Respondents bring summary judgment, but allege, “no genuine reason as to any material fact”. Summary judgment states, “no genuine issue as to any material fact”. Appellant could find no case or filing where the use of the word ‘reason’ has been used or is even applicable to bringing a motion for summary judgment. They are 2 different words with 2 different meanings, where reason is an ‘explanation’ and issue is ‘an important topic or problem for debate’, and they are not interchangeable. Summary judgment does not require a genuine explanation to a material fact. Due the above, their motion fails to meet the requirements under the rule for summary judgment.

In the November 2022 motion hearing, Appellant’s 2021 motion to compel discovery and 2022 motion for rule to show cause was considered. Additionally, Appellant raised subject matter jurisdiction. Respondents did not respond or defend either motion or subject matter jurisdiction in filings or at the hearing. Respondents presented the [unserved] motion for summary judgment primarily raising and arguing that of an alleged illegality of the easement (Trans.11-22), not an issue raised in their motion nor within the scope of the complaint (Amended complaint).

“Again, every cause of action she alleged arises out of this alleged easement. And because the easement itself as it existed was illegal in that it was a single water line and a single meter serving two separate parcels, that easement cannot continue to exist. It's illegal. It's an illegal contract. Those are my arguments in a nutshell.” (Trans. 11-22).

“Thus, it should be concluded that public policy would be offended by permitting the partners, who were all parties to the illegal contract, to invoke the aid of our courts to enforce any claims

⁵ This Rule 5(a) is the same as Federal Rule

depending on it.’ *Jackson v. Bi-Lo Stores, Inc.*, 437 SE 2d 168 - SC: Court of Appeals 1993. Appellant defended and asked for proof or evidence of an alleged legal issue with the easement. That discovery is still pending IAW a previous court order by Judge Murphy in 2021.

“The requests to which the Defendants objected were highlighted/circled, and the Defendants’ reasons for objecting to the requests were stated in their Motion and Additional Memorandum. The Defendants shall not be required to respond to the highlighted/circled requests. The Defendants shall respond to all remaining requests within 30 days of issuance of this Order.” (Order, pg. 5)

Specifically, *“Every item, document, evidence or communications in which you based your claim that the waterline or water to the Plaintiff’s property ... is illegal or that Dorchester County declared that specific waterline illegal,”* AND *“Every item, document, evidence or communications in which you based your claim that the water line that was in existence at all times material.... ‘violates county codes.’”* (Cross Add. memo, Ex.1: # 5 & #8);(see Dudek Additional memo, Ex.1 # 6 & #8).

The question at law in this case requires the pending ordered discovery before summary judgment can be granted, especially on a dispositive issue granting summary judgment. “Because the parties are given the right to police non-jurisdictional questions, it follows that this right would be destroyed by the district court's exercising it on behalf of the parties *sua sponte.*” *Ellenburg v. Spartan*, 519 F.3d 192, 198 (4th Cir. 2008)

The 2021 order (Order), along with Appellant’s pending motion to compel and/or motion rule to show cause, is proper notice to the courts that discovery is pending. The ordered discovery was due September 22, 2021. The Appellant has still not been served any responses to its discovery requests. Discovery has been pending for over 3 years and both the court and the Respondents refuse court ordered discovery. (59e Motions(s)) To refuse court ordered discovery denying Appellant’s request at the hearing and its motion to compel and motion for rule to show cause, and then grant

summary judgment while the discovery is pending on the very issues summary judgment was granted includes but not limited to abuse of discretion⁶, abuse of Appellant's due process, abuse of the processes of the courts, and a violation of discovery rules, and violation of summary judgment (Rule 56 SCRCF and FRCP), where the Appellant must be given every opportunity to obtain discovery before summary judgment is proper. In no event, however, should the court enter judgment against a party who has not been apprised of the materiality of the dispositive fact and been afforded an opportunity to present any available evidence bearing on that fact. Rule 56 SCRCF and FRCP.

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