RECEIVED

Nov 22 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Diane S. Goodstein, First Judicial Circuit

Appellate Case No. 2023-000879

Molly M. Morpew, Appellant,

v.

Stephen Dudek and Doreen Cross, Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENTS

SMITH | CLOSSER, P.A

Zachary J. Closser (SC Bar No.: 74005)
Emily Hansbarger (SC Bar No.: 105405)
7455 Cross County Road, Suite 1
P.O. Box 40578
Charleston, SC 29423-0578
843-760-0220
843-552-2678

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

ARGUMENT

Respondents have been named to several other litigation matters brought by the Appellant. Respondents have been defending litigations against the Appellant for nearly a decade. Respondents have spent an excessive amount of money through the process. Appellant has continuously delayed these proceedings from going forward, requiring Respondents to spend more

money and delaying the outcome of this matter. Appellant has had it out for Respondents since the first complaint against Respondents in 2012, which has given rise to Appellant's current claims against Respondents in this case and arguments made in this appeal.

Bases on the history between the parties, and the years of litigation, Respondents would ask this Court to affirm the order of the lower court and deny Appellant's appeal for the lower court to amend or reconsider the order granting Respondents summary judgment.

I. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT FOR RESPONDENTS.

In *Bayle v. S.C. DOT*, the Court heard an appeal regarding the circuit court's granting of S.C. DOT's motion for summary judgment. One of the issues in *Bayle* pertaining to summary judgment being granted was discovery was not completed. The court stated "the ruling of a trial judge in matters involving discovery will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial judge's ruling is based upon an error of law or, when based on factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support." 344 S.C. 115, 128, 542 S.E.2d 736, 742 (Ct. App. 2001). In *Bayle*, the Court found the discovery issue was not preserved as Bayle failed to move for a continuance in which to pursue further discovery. *Id.* To support the Court's findings, it quotes *Degenhart v. Knights of Columbus*, 309 S.C. 114, 420 S.E.2d 495 (1992), "stating whether court erred in granting summary judgment while appellants had moved to compel outstanding was not preserved when appellants failed to move for a continuance and did not request motion for summary judgment be held in abeyance until after ruling on discovery motion." *Id.* The Court, in *Bayle*, further found, even if the issue had been preserved, it would not have altered the outcome of the circuit court. *Id.*

Appellant argues the lower court improperly granted Respondents Motion for Summary Judgment because she alleges discovery was not completed. However, in the transcript from the hearing dated November 21, 2022, Appellant states “first, the discovery that I requested from the Defendants and they were ordered to provide over a year ago is still pending. I haven’t received it. It was, actually, request for production. They provided everything else.” Mot. Summ. J. Hr’g Tr. 7:25-8:3. Appellant admits she has received Respondents discovery responses. The requests for production Appellant has not received from Respondents do not have to be produced.

Further, Appellant contends she is entitled to the discovery requests that were protected under the protective order dated August 23, 2021, issued by Judge Maite Murphy (hereinafter “August Order”). The August Order protected Respondents from responding to interrogatories and producing documents unrelated to this instant litigation. After the August Order, Appellant filed two motions to reconsider the order, which were dismissed. Appellant filed an appeal to overturn the dismissal of the motions to reconsider, which was dismissed from this Court. Thus, Appellant is not entitled to the discovery requests protected by the August Order.

Appellant has not shown an abuse of discretion as it relates to discovery, as identified in *Bayle*, nor has she preserved the issue for this appeal. Appellant has not shown the circuit court ruling was based on error of law or was without evidentiary support. In addition, Appellant failed to move for a continuance so discovery could be completed before ruling on Respondents Motion for Summary Judgment.

Even if Appellant requested a continuance to complete discovery, the ruling from the circuit court would not have changed. For Appellant to succeed on the merits of claims against Respondents, she must establish damages. At the hearing on November 21, 2022, Appellant admits she is no longer the owner of the property at issue. Mot. Summ. J. Hr’g Tr. 36:8-10 and

42:16-18. Further, the lower court, *sua sponte*, ruled the deed did not identify the easement under the merge doctrine. To support the lower court's ruling, it quotes *Shoney's, Inc. v. Cooke*, 291 S.C. 307, 353 S.E.2d 300, 303 (S.C. Ct. App. 1987), "the execution, delivery, and acceptance of a deed varying from the terms of [an] antecedent contract indicates an amendment of the original contract, and generally the rights of the parties are fixed by their expressions as contained in the deed." Finally, the lower court found the easement would violate Dorchester County Code of Ordinances, Chap. 44, Art. 3, Div. 2, Sect. 44-60, which reads in part, "no water or sewer service shall be furnished to any lot from an existing service on another lot except as herein provided or by special authorization, in writing, of the County Council. Any unapproved/unmetered connection to a new system, not yet approved for operation, shall be defined as illegal... Therefore, if Appellant requested a continuance to complete discovery, it would not alter the lower court's ruling.

Accordingly, this Court should affirm the lower court's judgment granting Respondents Motion for Summary Judgment. Appellant has admitted to received Respondents discovery responses, failed to preserve the issue for this appeal, and completing discovery would not alter the lower court's ruling for summary judgment.

II. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S SECOND AND THIRD MOTIONS TO RECONSIDER.

In *Overland, Inc. v. Nance*, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that the ten-day deadline in Rule 59(e) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure is an absolute deadline. 423 S.C. 253, 256, 815 S.E.2d 431, 433 (S.C. 2018). The South Carolina Supreme Court clarified confusion relating to the issue of filing a motion to reconsider pursuant to Rule 59(e). *Id* at 255. The South Carolina Supreme Court states "Rule 6(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil

Procedure gives trial courts limited authority to extend deadlines set forth in the Rules. However, Rule 6(b) explicitly excludes Rule 59 and certain other rules from that authority.” *Id.* Under Rule 6(b), it states “the time for taking any action under rules 50(b), 52(b), 59, and 60(b) may not be extended except to the extent and under the conditions stated in them. *Id.* In *Nance*, the South Carolina Supreme Court stated “Rule 59(e) does not have an “conditions stated” which would allow such an extension.” *Id.* at 256. Thus, the South Carolina Supreme Court rule that “failure to serve a Rule 59(e) motion within ten days of receipt of notice of entry of the order converts the order into a final judgment, and the aggrieved party’s only recourse is to file a notice of intent to appeal.” *Id.* at 257.

In regards to Appellants February and March Motions, or her second and third motions to reconsider, the motions were untimely filed. The lower court stated in their orders the motions were untimely. As addressed in *Nance*, the ten-day deadline is an absolute deadline. The lower court’s order denying Appellant’s January Motion was filed on January 27, 2023. Appellant filed her February Motion on February 14, 2023. The time between the lower court’s order and Appellant’s February Motion was 18 days. In Appellant’s Initial Brief, she argues she has an extra five days under Rule 6(e) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. If Appellant did have 5 days for mailing, Appellant still failed to file her February Motion within 10-days pursuant to Rule 59(e). In addition, Appellant’s March Motion was untimely filed under Rule 59(e). The lower court filed its order denying Appellant’s February Motion on March 15, 2023. Appellant filed her March Motion on March 30, 2023. There was 15 days between the date of the order and the time Appellant filed her March Order. Therefore, the lower court was proper in denying Appellant’s February and March Motion for being untimely.

The lower court, further, addressed Appellant's failure to serve the judge with a copy of her motions pursuant to Rule 59(g), S.C.R.C.P. Rule 59(g) states "a party filing a written motion under this rule shall provide a copy of the motion to the judge within ten (10) days after the tiling of the motion." In the lower court's order date April 24, 2023, the lower court quoted *Smith v. Fedor*, 422 S.C. 118, 124, 809 S.E.2d 612, 615 (Ct. App. 2017) to support its denial of Appellant's February and March Motions. In *Smith*, this Court determined the trial court properly denied Smith's motion for consideration because he failed to provide a copy to the judge within ten days of filing. *Id.* This Court stated "Rule 59(g) would lack any purpose if trial court committed error by denying the motion for failure to comply with the rule." *Id.* In addition, this Court supported its ruling by the language in *Gallagher v. Evert*, 353 S.C. 59, 63-64, 577, S.E.2d 217, 219 (Ct. App. 2002), which "implied a trial court may deny the motion solely on the basis of the rule." *Id.* Pursuant to Rule 59(g) and *Smith*, the lower court denial of Appellant's February and March Motions were proper.

Therefore, this Court should affirm the lower court's ruling for denying Appellant's February and March Motions. Appellant failed to timely file her motions pursuant to Rule 59(e) and failed to comply with rule 59(g) by serving a copy of the filing on the judge.

III. RESPONDENTS PROPERLY ANSWERED THE AMENDED COMPLAINT.

Pursuant to Rule 12(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, it states "a defendant shall serve his answer within 30 days after the service of the complaint upon him, unless the Court directs otherwise when service of process is made pursuant to Rule 4(e)..." Appellant filed her Amended Complaint on March 12, 2020. Based on the filing date, Respondents had 30 days from March 12, 2020 to file their answer, which make their answer due on April 11, 2020. However, April 11, 2020 was on a Saturday. Under Rule 6(a), S.C.R.C.P., it states:

In computing any period of time prescribed or allowed by these rules, by order of court, or by an applicable statute, the day of the act, event, or default after which the designed period of time begins to run is not to be included. The last day of the period so computed is to be included, unless it is a Saturday, Sunday or a State or Federal holiday, in which event the period runs until the end of the next day which is neither a Saturday, Sunday, nor such holiday.

Based on Rule 6(a), Respondents had until the next day that was not a Saturday, Sunday, or federal holiday to answer the amended complaint. The new date for Respondents to file their answer was Monday, April 13, 2020, which is when Respondents filed their motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), S.C.R.C.P. In addition, Appellant has admitted to receiving Respondents answer after their motion to dismiss was heard on May 26, 2021 and an order was filed on August 23, 2021. Respondents filed their answer to the amended complaint on September 3, 2021. Mot. Summ. J. Hr'g Tr. 13:24-14:1. Therefore, this Court should affirm the lower court's ruling denying Appellant's Motion for Default and Default Judgment. Respondents properly filed their motion to dismiss as required by Rules 12(a) and 6(a).

IV. APPELLANT IS BARRED FROM ARGUING ISSUES 4 AND 5 UNDER RES JUDICATA.

The issues raised in Appellant's Initial Brief regarding jurisdiction from the original action and contract are barred under res judicata. In *Plum Creek Dev. V. City of Conway*, the South Carolina Supreme Court addresses res judicata. 344 S.C. 30, 512 S.E.2d 106 (S.C. 1999). In *Plum Creek Dev.*, the Supreme Court states;

Res judicata bars subsequent actions by the same parties when the claims arise out of the same transaction or occurrence that was the subject of a prior action between those parties. Under the doctrine of res judicata [a] litigant is barred from raising any issues which were adjudicated in the former suit and any issues which might have been raised in the former suit. To establish res judicata, the defendant must prove the following three elements: (1) identity of the parties; (2) identify of the subject matter; and (3) adjudication of the issue in the former suit. *Id* at 34.

Appellant has raised issues relating to an action from 2012, which was ruled upon and dismissed. The action was brought by Respondents against previous homeowners and sellers, Thomas and Lorraine Ferro (hereinafter “Ferros”), seeking specific performance of the purchase agreement. Appellant filed a separate suit against Respondents and Ferros to seek enforcement she had with Ferros for the property at issue. Both actions consolidated and had the case number 2013-CP-18-00183 in Dorchester County Common Pleas Court (hereinafter “2013 Action”). Ultimately, Respondents prevailed in their action against Ferros and were granted specific performance of the purchase agreement.

This instant litigation was brought by Appellant arising from the purchase agreement between Respondents and Ferros. The subject matter of this action is similar to the 2013 Action as it is the same contract. Appellant, in her Initial Brief, is seeking this Court to overturn the orders from the 2013 Action after it has been adjudicated. As identified in *Plum Creek Dev.*, Appellant is barred to seek this Court to overturn the 2013 Action by res judicata. Appellant and Respondents were parties to the 2013 Action. The subject matter to this instant litigation arises from the 2013 Action because it is the same contract at issue. Finally, this Court affirmed the mater-in-equity’s ruling in the 2013 Action.

Thus, this Court should find Appellant is barred from arguing issues 4 and 5 of her Initial Brief due to res judicata. Appellant’s issues 4 and 5 are not issues relating to this instant litigation but the 2013 Action. This Court does not have the authority to rule on those issues.

V. APPELLANT FAILED TO PROPERLY FILE THE APPEAL.

In *Elam v. S.C. DOT*, the Supreme Court of South Carolina reaffirmed the principles set in *Coward Hund Constr. Co. v. Ball Corp.* 361 S.C. 9, 31, 602 S.E.2d 772, 782 (S.C. 2004). The Supreme Court of South Carolina stated “an appeal may be barred due to untimely service of the

notice of appeal when a party – instead of serving a notice of appeal – files a successive Rule 59(e) motion, where the trial judge’s ruling on the first Rule 59(e) motion does not result in a substantial alteration of the original judgment.” *Id* at 20. Pursuant to Rule 203(b)(1) of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules, “the notice of appeal be served on all respondents within thirty days after receipt of written notice of entry of the order or judgment.” In *Conway Hund Constr. Co. v. Ball Corp.*, the Court further state “the rule provides, however, that when a timely...motion to alter or amend the judgment (Rules 52 and 59, SCRCRCP) ... has been made, the time of appeal for all parties shall be stayed and shall run from receipt of written notice of entry of the order ranting or denying such motion. 336 S.C. 1, 2-3, 518 S.E.2d 56, 57 (Ct. App. 1999).

Here, Appellant filed her first motion to reconsider under Rule 59(e), S.C.R.C.P, on January 13, 2023. Based on *Conway Hund*, Appellant’s January Motion stayed the time for appeal to be filed. However, after the denial of Appellant’s January Motion on January 27, 2023, Appellant filed a successive Rule 59(e) motion, instead of filing a notice of appeal. The January 27, 2023 order did not substantially alter the order for summary judgment. Since Appellant filed her February Motion, instead of serving a notice of appeal, this appeal is barred due to untimely service. After the January 27, 2023 order, the time to file an appeal is no longer stayed and filing a successive Rule 59(e) motion does not continue to stay the appeal. Appellant should have filed her notice of appeal on or before February 26, 2023. Instead, Appellant served her notice of appeal on May 30, 2023.

Accordingly, this appeal is barred for being untimely and this Court should affirm the lower court’s order for summary judgment. Appellant failed to service a notice of appeal after the lower court’s January 27, 2023 order and filed her February Motion instead. Thus, Appellant’s appeal is untimely.

**VI. THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM THE ORDER OF THE LOWER COURT
BASED ON THE GROUNDS RELIED UPON BY THE LOWER COURT.**

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